
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

____________________________________ 
       ) 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, )  
       )  
 Plaintiff,     )  
       )  
  v.     )  
       )   
CIRCA DIRECT LLC, and   ) 
ANDREW DAVIDSON,   )  
       )  
 Defendants.     )  
____________________________________) 
 
 
 
 

PLAINTIFF FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION’S 
SUBMISSION SUPPORTING ENTRY OF PROPOSED STIPULATED 

FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER

   Civil No. 11-CV-2172 RMB-AMD 

Case 1:11-cv-02172-RMB-AMD   Document 42   Filed 03/14/12   Page 1 of 25 PageID: 1594



  i 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
I. Introduction .............................................................................................. 1 

 
II. Standard of Review .................................................................................. 2 

 
III. Applying the Standard to the Proposed Order ...................................... 5 

 
A. The Proposed Injunctive Relief Is Fair, Adequate, Reasonable, and in 
 the Public Interest. ................................................................................. 6 

 
B. The Proposed Monetary Provisions Are Fair, Adequate, and in the 
 Public Interest. ....................................................................................... 9 

 
1. The $11.5 million judgment is a reasonable approximation of 
 Defendants’ ill-gotten gains. ............................................................ 10 

 
2. Defendants must surrender all their remaining assets. ..................... 13 

 
3. The monetary relief is a fair resolution serving the public interest. 14 

 
4. The proposed Order’s lack of admissions is not relevant to Court’s 
 review. .............................................................................................. 16 

 
C. Carving Out the Attorneys’ Fees Dispute Does Not Affect the 
 Proposed Order’s Overall Fairness. .................................................... 17 

 
IV. Conclusion ............................................................................................. 20 

 
 

 
  

Case 1:11-cv-02172-RMB-AMD   Document 42   Filed 03/14/12   Page 2 of 25 PageID: 1595



  ii 
 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

Cases 

Binker v. Pennsylvania, 977 F.2d 738 (3d Cir. 1992) ...................... 2, 5, 6, 15 

Buckhannon Bd. & Care Home, Inc. v. West Virginia Dep’t of Health & 
Human Res., 532 U.S. 598 (2001) ............................................................ 19 

Citizens for a Better Env’t v. Gorsuch, 718 F.2d 1117 (D.C. Cir. 1983) ....... 2 

Cotton v. Hinton, 559 F.2d 1326 (5th Cir. 1977) ........................................... 3 

FTC v. Bronson Partners, 654 F.3d 359 (2d Cir. 2011) ........................ 11, 13 

FTC v. Direct Mktg. Concepts, Inc., 624 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2010) .................. 11 

FTC v. Febre, 128 F.3d 530 (7th Cir. 1997) ................................................ 11 

FTC v. Freecom Commc’ns, Inc., 401 F.3d 1192 (10th Cir. 2005) ............... 9 

FTC v. Gem Merch. Corp., 87 F.3d 466 (11th Cir. 1996) ...................... 12, 14 

FTC v. H.N. Singer, Inc., 668 F.3d 1107 (9th Cir. 1982) ............................. 14 

FTC v. Kuykendall, 371 F.3d 745 (10th Cir. 2004) ...................................... 11 

FTC v. Nat’l Urological Group, Inc., 645 F. Supp. 2d 1167 (N.D. Ga. 2008)
 ..................................................................................................................... 7 

FTC v. Pantron I Corp., 33 F.3d 1088 (9th Cir. 1994) ............................ 9, 15 

FTC v. QT, Inc., 448 F. Supp. 2d 908 (N.D. Ill. 2006), aff’d, 512 F.3d 858 
(7th Cir. 2008) ............................................................................................. 7 

FTC v. Ruberoid Co., 343 U.S. 470 (1952) .................................................... 9 

Kirkland v. New York State Dep’t of Corr. Servs., 711 F.2d 1117 (2d Cir. 
1983) ............................................................................................................ 3 

Maher v. Gagne, 448 U.S. 122 (1980) ......................................................... 18 

Metro. Hous. Dev. Corp. v. Vill. of Arlington Heights, 616 F.2d 1006 (7th 
Cir. 1980) ..................................................................................................... 4 

Case 1:11-cv-02172-RMB-AMD   Document 42   Filed 03/14/12   Page 3 of 25 PageID: 1596



  iii 
 

Nat’l Petroleum Refiners Ass’n v. FTC, 482 F.2d 672 (D.C. Cir. 1973) ....... 9 

Officers for Justice v. Civil Serv. Comm’n, 688 F.2d 615 (9th Cir. 1982) ..... 5 

Sandoz Pharm. Corp. v. Richardson-Vicks, Inc., 902 F.2d 222 (3d Cir. 1990)
 ................................................................................................................... 17 

SEC v. Citigroup Global Markets, Inc., No. 11 Civ. 7387, 2011 WL 
5903733 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 28, 2011), stay granted pending hearing, Nos. 
11–5227, 11–5242, 2011 WL 6937373 (2d Cir. Dec. 27, 2011) .......... 3, 17 

Stearns & Foster Bedding Co. v. Franklin Holding Corp., 947 F. Supp. 790 
(D.N.J. 1996) ............................................................................................. 16 

Swift & Co. v. United States, 276 U.S. 311 (1928) ........................................ 4 

United States v. Acton Corp., 733 F. Supp. 869 (D.N.J. 1990) ...................... 2 

United States v. Atofina Chems., Inc., No. 01-7087, 2002 WL 1832825 (E.D. 
Pa. Aug. 5, 2002) ......................................................................................... 4 

United States v. Cannons Eng’g Corp., 899 F.2d 79 (1st Cir. 1990) ... 2, 5, 15 

United States v. Kramer, 19 F. Supp. 2d 273 (D.N.J. 1998) .......................... 2 

United States v. Microsoft Corp., 56 F.3d 1448 (D.C. Cir. 1995).................. 5 

United States v. Rohm & Haas Co., 721 F. Supp. 666 (D.N.J. 1989) .... 2, 4, 5 

Wilkerson v. Martin Marietta Corp., 171 F.R.D. 273 (D. Colo. 1997) .......... 5 

Statutes 

15 U.S.C. § 45 ................................................................................................. 6 

15 U.S.C. § 52 ................................................................................................. 6 

15 U.S.C. § 55 ................................................................................................. 7 

Case 1:11-cv-02172-RMB-AMD   Document 42   Filed 03/14/12   Page 4 of 25 PageID: 1597



  1 
 

 

I. Introduction 
 

 Plaintiff, Federal Trade Commission (“FTC” or “Commission”), 

submits this response to the Court’s February 22, 2012 Order and Opinion 

(“Op.”) to demonstrate that	the proposed Stipulated Final Judgment and 

Order (“proposed Order”) should be entered because it is fair, reasonable, 

adequate, and manifestly in the public interest.  The complaint in this case 

alleges that Circa Direct, LLC, and Andrew Davidson (“Defendants”) 

deceptively advertised bogus weight-loss and other products using fake 

internet news sites.  The proposed Order contains strong injunctive relief and 

permanently enjoins Defendants from engaging in each of the deceptive 

practices alleged in the complaint.  The proposed Order also sets out strong 

monetary relief by ensuring that Defendants do not keep their ill-gotten 

gains.  Indeed, it requires Defendants to disgorge all of their significant 

assets, including Davidson’s home, car, and retirement, checking, and 

investment accounts.  These assets are likely worth at least $2.5 million and 

will either be disgorged to the Treasury or, if possible, used to provide 

redress to consumers.  It is doubtful that stronger or more comprehensive 

relief could be obtained even if this case were tried to judgment.   
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II. Standard of Review 
 
 A district court reviews a proposed consent decree to ensure it is fair, 

reasonable, adequate, and serves the public interest as articulated in the 

underlying statute.  See United States v. Acton Corp., 733 F. Supp. 869, 871 

(D.N.J. 1990) (stating standard in CERCLA action); United States v. Rohm 

& Haas Co., 721 F. Supp. 666, 680 (D.N.J. 1989) (same); see also United 

States v. Cannons Eng’g Corp., 899 F.2d 79, 84 (1st Cir. 1990) 

(“[r]easonableness, fairness, and fidelity to the statute” are the factors to be 

assessed in reviewing proposed consent decrees); Citizens for a Better Env’t 

v. Gorsuch, 718 F.2d 1117, 1126 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (applying standard in 

Clean Air Act settlement); United States v. Kramer, 19 F. Supp. 2d 273, 281 

(D.N.J. 1998) (consent decrees should be reviewed for fairness, 

reasonableness, and fidelity to the statute).  While these opinions, and indeed 

most decisions reviewing consent decrees, concern actions brought under 

statutes that specify a regulatory framework that guides the review of 

settlements, the Third Circuit recognizes that even in cases without such 

procedural requirements, courts still apply a “‘universal’ standard, that of 

fairness, adequacy and reasonableness.”  Binker v. Pennsylvania, 977 F.2d 

738, 747-48 (3d Cir. 1992).   
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Courts have ample authority to enter a consent decree based on the 

allegations in the complaint and the relief sought by the plaintiff.  As the 

Second Circuit put it, “the reasonableness and legality of the agreement 

under federal law must be measured against the allegations of the complaint 

and the relief which might have been granted had the case gone to trial.”  

Kirkland v. New York State Dep’t of Corr. Servs., 711 F.2d 1117, 1132 (2d 

Cir. 1983) (internal citation omitted); see also Cotton v. Hinton, 559 F.2d 

1326 (5th Cir. 1977).  Thus, the complaint serves as the yardstick by which 

to measure the fairness, reasonableness, and adequacy of settlements.1   

 Courts assess the adequacy of consent decrees without requiring 

admissions, proof, or a determination that a violation has occurred.  This rule 

is so universally followed that cases suggesting otherwise are exceedingly 

rare.  We recognize that SEC v. Citigroup Global Markets, Inc., No. 11 Civ. 

7387, 2011 WL 5903733, at *2-4 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 28, 2011), stay granted 

pending hearing, Nos. 11–5227, 11–5242, 2011 WL 6937373 (2d Cir. Dec. 

27, 2011), could be read to require a court to find that a violation had 

occurred before approving a consent decree.  But such a requirement would 

be contrary to well-settled law.  More than eighty years ago, the Supreme 

                                           
1  In cases such as this, where there has already been substantial factual 
development and significant judicial oversight, the court is of course free to 
review the record as well. 
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Court rejected precisely this argument, emphasizing that the contention that 

a consent decree “requires either admission or proof” of wrongdoing 

“ignores both the nature of injunctions . . . and the legal implications of a 

consent decree.”  Swift & Co. v. United States, 276 U.S. 311 (1928) 

(Brandeis, J.).  Thus, courts reject the suggestion “that a finding of a 

constitutional or statutory violation [is] a necessary predicate to the entry of 

a consent decree.”  Metro. Hous. Dev. Corp. v. Vill. of Arlington Heights, 

616 F.2d 1006, 1015 (7th Cir. 1980) (citing Swift).  Indeed, “[c]ompromise 

of litigation occurs precisely because there is uncertainty about the 

underlying factual circumstances and the range of possible recoveries.”  

Rohm & Haas, 721 F. Supp. at 685-86.  

 Where, as here, the settlement results from a government enforcement 

action, the public interest is examined through the lens of the underlying 

statute; namely, does “the consent decree’s substantive components serve 

the policies of the allegedly violated . . . statutes and the public interest.” 

United States v. Atofina Chems., Inc., No. 01-7087, 2002 WL 1832825, at * 

5 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 5, 2002).  And, in evaluating whether a proposed decree 

serves the policies of the underlying statute, courts give particular deference 

to the view of the public agency charged by Congress with the responsibility 
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of enforcing the statute.  See, e.g., Wilkerson v. Martin Marietta Corp., 171 

F.R.D. 273, 283 (D. Colo. 1997); Rohm & Haas Co., 721 F. Supp. at 681.   

 In assessing whether the proposed settlement serves the public 

interest, the court’s role is “not to determine whether the resulting array of 

rights and liabilities is the one that will best serve society, but only to 

confirm that the resulting settlement is within the reaches of the public 

interest.”  United States v. Microsoft Corp., 56 F.3d 1448, 1460 (D.C. Cir. 

1995) (internal citations omitted).   

 In addition, a court must be alert to danger signals that a consent 

decree is not the product of an arm’s length negotiation by the parties.  A 

court should assess the overall contours of the settlement and how it was 

reached to gauge the “candor, openness, and bargaining balance” by which 

settlement was achieved.  See Cannons Eng’g, 899 F.2d at 86.  A settlement 

that appears to be the “‘product of fraud or overreaching by, or collusion 

between, the negotiating parties’” should be rejected.  Binker, 977 F.2d at 

748 (quoting Officers for Justice v. Civil Serv. Comm’n, 688 F.2d 615, 625 

(9th Cir. 1982)).   

 
III. Applying the Standard to the Proposed Order  

 
 The proposed Order amply satisfies all of the relevant factors.  The 

settlement contains strong injunctive relief that addresses each of the 
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deceptive and illegal practices alleged in the complaint.  The monetary relief 

requires Defendants to disgorge all of their assets, preventing further 

dissipation2 while depriving them of their ill-gotten gains.  Both the 

injunctive relief and the monetary relief in the proposed Order serve the 

public interest by furthering the purposes of the FTC Act. 3 

A. The Proposed Injunctive Relief Is Fair, Adequate, Reasonable, 
and in the Public Interest. 
 

Analysis of the proposed injunctive relief begins with consideration of 

the Commission’s complaint, filed on April 18, 2011, which charges 

Defendants with violating Sections 5 and 12 of the FTC Act4 by marketing, 

                                           
2  As discussed at note 12, infra, Defendants may spend up to $4,500 
each month on actual, ordinary, and necessary business or personal expenses 
pursuant to the Preliminary Injunction.  (PI § IV).   
 
3		 Because there is no suggestion the proposed Order is the product of 
fraud, overreaching by, or collusion between the parties, the concerns 
highlighted in Binker, 977 F.2d at 748, do not factor into this analysis.  
Defendants had legal representation from the outset of, and throughout, the 
litigation.  (Prunty Decl. ¶¶ 5, 6, 8, 25.)  The parties negotiated the proposed 
Order at arms-length, with an adversarial posture, and ultimately agreed on 
all issues except attorneys’ fees, as discussed below.  (Id., ¶ 25.)   
	
4  Section 5 of the FTC Act prohibits “unfair or deceptive acts or 
practices in or affecting commerce.”  15 U.S.C. § 45(a) (2006).  Section 12 
of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 52, prohibits dissemination of any false 
advertisement in or affecting commerce for the purpose of inducing, or 
which is likely to induce, the purchase of food, drugs, devices, services, or 
cosmetics.  “A violation of Section 12, the dissemination of false 
advertising, constitutes a violation of Section 5(a).”  15 U.S.C. § 52(b); FTC 
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inter alia, acai-berry weight-loss products, work-at-home programs, and 

surplus auction services, through websites designed to look like news 

reports.5  (Compl. ¶ 9).  To deceive consumers, Defendants’ websites used 

domain names such as onlinenews6.com; displayed the logos of major 

television networks; purported to provide investigative news accounts by 

reporters who had investigated and tested a product and experienced 

dramatic results; and included comments purportedly provided by ordinary 

consumers extolling their success with the products.  (Compl. ¶¶ 10-11).  

The complaint alleges that, in fact, almost everything about the news reports 

was fake:  the pictured reporters, the news accounts, and the consumer 

accounts were all fictional.  (Compl. ¶ 12).  Defendants disseminated these 

websites for the sole purpose of promoting the featured products, which 

were sold on third-party merchant websites that consumers could access by 

                                                                                                                              
v. Nat’l Urological Group, Inc., 645 F. Supp. 2d 1167, 1188 (N.D. Ga. 
2008) (quoting FTC v. QT, Inc., 448 F. Supp. 2d 908, 957 (N.D. Ill. 2006), 
aff’d, 512 F.3d 858 (7th Cir. 2008)).  The acai berry-based products 
advertised by Defendants are either a “food” or “drug” as defined in Section 
15(b) and (c) of the FTC Act.  See 15 U.S.C. § 55(b)-(c).   
	
5  The FTC simultaneously sought a Temporary Restraining Order 
(TRO).  Defendants retained counsel and stipulated to a TRO, which the 
Court entered on April 19, 2011.  On June 1, 2011, the Court entered a 
stipulated Preliminary Injunction, which, like the TRO, as discussed herein, 
enjoined certain advertising practices, required a monthly accounting of 
expenditures and advertising, and also restricted Defendants’ expenditures to 
preserve the amount available for disgorgement or redress. 
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clicking on a link on Defendants’ websites.  (Compl. ¶ 13).  The complaint 

also alleges that Defendants made false or unsubstantiated weight-loss 

claims for acai berry weight-loss products on many of those fake news 

websites.  (Compl. ¶¶ 19-21).   

The complaint seeks entry of a “permanent injunction to prevent 

future violations of the FTC Act by Defendants.”  (Compl. Prayer for Relief 

¶ B).  The proposed Order provides this relief.  If entered, it would enjoin 

each Defendant permanently from engaging in any of the alleged violations 

of the FTC Act set out in the complaint, i.e., deceptive use of a fake news 

format, failure to disclose Defendants’ relationship to the seller, and false 

and unsubstantiated weight-loss claims for acai-berry weight-loss products.  

(Compare Compl. ¶¶ 17-27 with Prop. Order §§ I-VI).  It bears emphasis 

that the injunctive provisions go beyond the specific conduct alleged here; 

they also prohibit Defendants from making misleading and unsubstantiated 

claims about the performance, efficacy, or benefits of any weight-loss 

products, or about any other products, services, and programs that 

Defendants may advertise in the future.  (Prop. Order §§ II-VI).    

 The proposed Order’s injunctive provisions fully vindicate the FTC 

Act.  The overriding purpose of the FTC Act is to protect consumers from 

“deceptive acts and practices in or affecting commerce.”  See, e.g., FTC v. 
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Freecom Commc’ns, Inc., 401 F.3d 1192, 1202 (10th Cir. 2005) (FTC Act’s 

primary purpose “is to lessen the rule of caveat emptor”); FTC v. Pantron I 

Corp., 33 F.3d 1088, 1099 (9th Cir. 1994) (Act’s purpose is “to protect the 

consumer from being misled by governing the conditions under which goods 

and services are advertised and sold to individual purchasers”) (quoting 

Nat’l Petroleum Refiners Ass’n v. FTC, 482 F.2d 672, 685 (D.C. Cir. 1973)).  

The proposed Order serves this purpose not only by specifically prohibiting 

the precise acts complained of, but also by prohibiting closely related 

deceptive advertising.  See FTC v. Ruberoid Co., 343 U.S. 470, 473 (1952) 

(“If the Commission is to attain the objectives Congress envisioned, it 

cannot be required to confine its road block to the narrow lane the 

transgressor has traveled; it must be allowed effectively to close all roads to 

the prohibited goal, so that its order may not be by-passed with impunity.”).  

To ensure Defendants abide by these mandates, the proposed Order allows 

the Commission to monitor compliance and provides for the retention of the 

Court’s jurisdiction for enforcement purposes.  (Prop. Ord. §§ IX-XIV).   

B. The Proposed Monetary Provisions Are Fair, Adequate, and in 
the Public Interest. 

 
 Consideration of the proposed monetary relief also begins with the 

complaint, which alleges that Defendants caused consumer harm and 
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unjustly enriched themselves, (Compl. ¶ 28), and seeks monetary relief 

including redress for injured consumers and the disgorgement of ill-gotten 

monies.  (Compl. Prayer for Relief ¶ C).  The proposed monetary relief 

corresponds directly with the relief sought in the complaint by requiring 

Defendants to disgorge at least $2.5 million in ill-gotten gains while giving 

the Commission discretion to distribute that money to consumers if 

practicable.   

1. The $11.5 million judgment is a reasonable 
approximation of Defendants’ ill-gotten gains. 

 
 As alleged in the complaint, Defendants’ fake news websites were 

designed to entice consumers to click on links that transferred them to a 

third-party merchant’s website.  (Compl. ¶ 13).  Defendants received a 

commission from the merchant or, more commonly, from an intermediary 

company that worked with the merchant, for each product purchase or “free 

trial” sign-up their ads generated.  (Compl. ¶ 13).   

 Discovery conducted in this case,6 as well as accounting and financial 

statements Defendants produced pursuant to the TRO and Preliminary 

                                           
6  Counsel for the FTC has taken substantial discovery in this case, 
including issuing interrogatories and document requests to, and deposing, 
Defendants, as well as subpoenaing documents from thirteen companies 
with which Defendants conducted business, including a number of affiliate 
marketing companies.  (Prunty Decl. ¶¶ 16, 18). 
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Injunction,7 show that Defendants received at least $11.5 million from 

disseminating advertisements that employed the fake news format or 

contained the challenged weight-loss claims.  (Prunty Decl. ¶¶ 17-19).  The 

$11.5 million figure reflects gross revenue, not the amount Defendants 

cleared after paying advertising and other costs.  (Prunty Decl. ¶ 19).  Gross 

revenue or gross receipts is an appropriate measure for calculating 

disgorgement in cases under the FTC Act.  See FTC v. Bronson Partners, 

654 F.3d 359, 372-74 (2d Cir. 2011); FTC v. Direct Mktg. Concepts, Inc., 

624 F.3d 1, 14-16 (1st Cir. 2010); FTC v. Kuykendall, 371 F.3d 745, 765-67 

(10th Cir. 2004).  This amount does not need to be determined with 

precision.  Even at trial, all the Commission has to show is a reasonable 

approximation of such revenue.  FTC v. Febre, 128 F.3d 530, 535 (7th Cir. 

1997).    

 In many of the FTC’s cases, the defendants sell directly to consumers.  

In those cases, it is easier to identify injured consumers and calculate the 

exact amount of consumer injury.  Here, Defendants received commissions 

from third-party intermediaries for advertisements that led to sales of 

                                                                                                                              
 
7  Pursuant to the TRO and Preliminary Injunction entered in this case, 
Defendants have produced to the FTC an accounting of their revenues and 
expenses and sworn financial statements detailing their assets and liabilities.  
(Prunty Decl. ¶¶ 10, 11). 
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products sold by other merchants, and not from consumers.  This makes it 

difficult to identify injured consumers,8 and to approximate consumer loss, 

which likely reflects some multiple of the commissions paid to Defendants 

for each consumer sale (or sign-up for a “risk-free trial”) linked to 

Defendants’ advertising.  Thus, consumer loss is likely several times 

Defendants’ approximately $11.5 million in ill-gotten gains.  (Prunty Decl. ¶ 

23).  The proposed Order gives the FTC the discretion to use recovered 

funds for consumer redress, or, if that proves impracticable, to deposit the 

funds with the Treasury as disgorgement.  (Prop. Order § VII.H).  Even if 

restitution proves impracticable, disgorgement of Defendants’ “unjust 

enrichment” to the United States Treasury is an appropriate outcome 

because it deprives Defendants of their ill-gotten gains and sends a strong 

signal to potential scammers that they will not profit from taking advantage 

of consumers.  See FTC v. Gem Merch. Corp., 87 F.3d 466, 470 (11th Cir. 

1996) (“because it is not always possible to distribute the money to the 

victims of defendants’ wrongdoing, a court may order the funds paid to the 

                                           
8  Neither Defendants, nor the companies with which Defendants 
directly did business, have the sales records necessary to identify consumers.  
(Prunty Decl. ¶¶ 20-22).  However, the Commission is investigating how to 
identify consumers from certain merchants who likely advertised through 
Defendants.  (Prunty Decl. ¶ 24).	   
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United States Treasury”); accord Bronson Partners, 654 F.3d at 373 (an 

award of disgorgement, “strictly speaking . . . runs in favor of the Treasury, 

not the victims.”).   

2. Defendants must surrender all their remaining assets.  
 

Before the FTC would consider settlement, it required Defendants to 

prepare and sign under the penalty of perjury detailed financial statements.  

(Prunty Decl. ¶ 13).  These statements, combined with the FTC’s review of 

bank statements and other documents,9 show that Defendants retain 

significant assets.  These assets consist of cash and investments with an 

estimated value of $2.39 million and equity in a home and car purchased by 

Davidson.  (Prunty Decl. ¶ 14).  The proposed Order calls for the entry of an 

$11.5 million judgment, which reflects the FTC’s calculation of Defendants’ 

ill-gotten gains.  The proposed Order partially suspends the $11.5 million 

judgment, contingent upon Defendants not misrepresenting their financial 

condition and turning over all of their assets.  (Prop. Order § VIII).   

The proposed Order gives Defendants 120 days from the order’s entry 

to sell the house; if they are unable to do so within that time-frame, the 

house will be sold at auction and the proceeds will be turned over the 

                                           
9  The FTC subpoenaed several financial institutions used by 
Defendants.  (Prunty Decl. ¶ 12).   
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Commission.  (Prop. Order § V.D).  The proposed Order requires 

Defendants to sell the car and turn over the proceeds to the Commission.  

Money contained in certain investment accounts must be turned over 

immediately to the Commission while other cash accounts (with an 

estimated total of $1.4 million) will be held in escrow by Defendants’ 

counsel.  The escrow fund’s purpose is to pay the mortgage, insurance 

premiums, and other reasonable and customary costs Defendants incur in the 

sale and maintenance of the house.10  Once Defendants sell the house, the 

balance of the funds in the escrow immediately transfer to the Commission.  

(Prop. Order § VII.B.4). 

3. The monetary relief is a fair resolution serving the 
public interest. 

 
 The monetary relief — taking all of Defendants’ assets — serves the 

public interest by deterring others from violating the FTC Act and providing 

equitable relief in the form of disgorgement and restitution as “necessary to 

complete justice.”  FTC v. H.N. Singer, Inc., 668 F.3d 1107, 1112-13 (9th 

Cir. 1982); see also Gem Merch., 87 F.3d at 469 (restitution and 

                                           
10  The proposed Order also requires Commission or Court approval prior 
to the transfer of any funds from the escrow account (beyond mortgage and 
upkeep payments), and an accounting of all transactions for the account.  
(Prop. Order § VII.B.4).	 
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disgorgement among relief courts can order); Pantron I, 33 F.3d at 1102 

(“broad authority to fashion remedies appropriate for violations of the Act”). 

 At trial, the Commission likely would seek a judgment that would 

exceed the amount Defendants will pay pursuant to this proposed Order.  

But such a victory might be pyrrhic.  Even if the Commission obtained such 

a judgment, the Commission could not expect to collect, in the near future, 

more than it will recover through the proposed Order.  To the contrary, by 

the time trial in this case would be completed, Defendants’ assets would be 

depleted substantially by the expenses Defendants would incur for legal fees 

and living expenses.  By resolving the litigation through this settlement, 

Defendants avoid the risk of a much larger judgment (which may or may not 

ever be satisfied) while the Commission not only conserves resources but 

obtains immediate and certain relief. 

 For these reasons, the proposed Order reflects a balancing of the need 

to obtain specific monetary relief against individual defendants “while at the 

same time vindicating the public interest by preventing future” violations, 

see Binker, 977 F.2d at 746, as well as “concepts of corrective justice and 

accountability:  a party should bear the cost of harm for which it is legally 

responsible.”  See Cannons Eng’g, 899 F.2d at 87.  The proposed Order 

properly takes into account both the extent of potential liability and the 
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ability of defendants to pay.  Stearns & Foster Bedding Co. v. Franklin 

Holding Corp., 947 F. Supp. 790, 813 (D.N.J. 1996) (finding settlement 

amount adequate where “defendants assert that the settlement amount . . . 

represents their entire assets and . . . [b]ased upon the record, there is no 

reason to doubt this assertion”).  Because the proposed Order strips 

Defendants of ill-gotten gains and all of their available assets, this factor also 

supports the reasonableness and fairness of the proposed Order. 

4. The proposed Order’s lack of admissions is not 
relevant to Court’s review.   

 
 As explained above, both binding Supreme Court precedent and 

nearly all lower court rulings have recognized that a consent decree need not 

be supported by the defendants’ admission of the alleged facts.   

Accordingly, Defendants’ acceptance of the proposed Order “without any 

admission or finding of liability,” Op. at 2-3, poses no obstacle to the 

Court’s approval of the decree.  After all, although Defendants do not admit 

the facts alleged in the complaint, they have willingly forfeited their right to 

contest those facts for the purpose of this settlement.  Moreover, there is no 

practical reason to believe that such an admission is necessary or would be 

beneficial.   

Case 1:11-cv-02172-RMB-AMD   Document 42   Filed 03/14/12   Page 20 of 25 PageID: 1613



  17 
 

 First, Defendants’ agreement, following arm’s-length negotiations, to 

the stringent injunctive and financial terms contained in the proposed Order 

provides the Court with ample assurance that there is a substantial basis for 

the facts as alleged.  Defendants’ consent to such terms reflects their own 

understanding of a substantial risk of loss, were the case to be litigated.   

 Second, even if it were a relevant consideration,11 an admission by 

Defendants likely would not benefit injured consumers.  Violations of the 

FTC Act do not themselves support a private right of action.  See Sandoz 

Pharm. Corp. v. Richardson-Vicks, Inc., 902 F.2d 222, 231 (3d Cir. 1990).  

And even if Defendants’ alleged misdeeds were actionable under other 

provisions of law, the financial terms of the proposed Order make it highly 

unlikely that consumers could reap significant benefits from any future 

judgment.  Thus, the lack of admissions in the proposed Order should not be 

a consideration in its approval. 

C. Carving Out the Attorneys’ Fees Dispute Does Not Affect 
the Proposed Order’s Overall Fairness.    

 
 The proposed Order should be entered, notwithstanding the 

unresolved issue of attorneys’ fees.  As indicated in the motion filed March 

                                           
11  Citigroup Global Mkts., Inc., 2011 WL 5903733, at *4-6, suggests 
that it is “inherently dangerous” for courts to enter decrees without 
admissions, id. at *6, but as noted above, this view contravenes controlling 
law. 
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8, 2012, by Venable, LLC (“Venable”), defense counsel claim fees and costs 

in excess of $406,000.  Venable, having already received $150,000 from 

Defendants, seeks to obtain an additional $256,215.97 from Defendants’ 

assets, which are subject to the proposed Order.  (Prunty Decl. ¶ 11).  The 

FTC soon will file an opposition to Venable’s motion, explaining why the 

motion is meritless and should be denied.12   

A consent decree is not insufficient simply because it does not resolve 

attorneys’ fees.  Indeed, this often occurs in cases subject to statutes, such as 

42 U.S.C. § 1988 (2006), that entitle the prevailing party to attorneys’ fees.  

In Maher v. Gagne, 448 U.S. 122, 126 (1980), and subsequent cases, the 

Supreme Court has recognized that in such disputes the court may first enter 

a consent decree that resolves the complaint and later adjudicate whether and 

to what extent the relief granted in the decree renders the plaintiff a 

“prevailing party” for purposes of attorneys’ fees.  See also Buckhannon Bd. 

                                           
12  Venable incurred these costs and fees during, and subject to, the 
Preliminary Injunction, which restricts Defendants’ expenditures to actual, 
ordinary, and necessary business or personal expenses, including attorneys’ 
fees and costs in this action.  (PI § IV).  As discussed in note 5, supra, the 
Preliminary Injunction requires Defendants to account for their expenses and 
to obtain written, prior approval from the FTC or the Court before 
encumbering or dissipating assets over a specified amount — $10,500 in the 
first month and $4,500 each month thereafter.  (PI § IV).  To date, neither 
the FTC nor the Court has authorized such expenditures for attorneys’ fees.  
(Prunty Decl. ¶ 9). 
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& Care Home, Inc. v. West Virginia Dep’t of Health & Human Res., 532 

U.S. 598, 605-06 (2001) (noting Maher with approval).13  

 Nor does the possibility of a subsequent award of attorneys’ fees 

undermine the proposed Order’s overall fairness and reasonableness.  The 

Order still serves the public interest by enjoining the alleged law violations 

and ensuring that Defendants have been deprived of their remaining ill-

gotten gains.  To be sure, every dollar awarded to Venable is a dollar less 

disgorged to the Treasury or available for consumer redress.  However, even 

if the Court were to award the full amount sought by Venable – a position 

the FTC strongly opposes – the funds available for disgorgement or 

consumer redress still would exceed $2.2 million.  Moreover, continuing to 

trial would inevitably entail even more defense costs, further depleting the 

remaining funds.  

  

                                           
13  Maher, by implication, also supports the proposition that district 
courts do not need admissions to enter consent decrees, as the decree 
explicitly stated that nothing therein was “‘intended to constitute an 
admission of fault by either party.’”  488 U.S. at 126 n.8 (quoting decree). 
 

Case 1:11-cv-02172-RMB-AMD   Document 42   Filed 03/14/12   Page 23 of 25 PageID: 1616



  20 
 

IV. Conclusion 

 The proposed Order not only provides individual accountability from 

the Defendants, who must turn over all of their assets and abide by the 

proposed Order’s strictures, but also serves the broader interests of the FTC 

Act by protecting consumers from future harm and sending a powerful 

deterrent message to those inclined toward similar acts of deception.  At the 

same time, avoiding trial preserves scarce government and judicial 

resources.  For these and all the reasons outlined above, the FTC seeks entry 

of the proposed Order.   
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Paul J. Fishman      
United States Attorney 
Paul A. Blaine 
Assistant United States Attorney  
401 Market Street, 4th Floor  
Camden, NJ 08101  
Telephone: 856-757-5026 
Facsimile:  856-757-5137  
         
 
March 14, 2012 
 

  

   /s/ Elizabeth Tucci              
Laura M. Sullivan 
Elizabeth Tucci 
James A. Prunty 
Federal Trade Commission  
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Mail Drop NJ-3212 
Washington, DC 20580 
Telephone:  202-326-3327 (Sullivan) 
202-326-2402 (Tucci) 
Facsimile:  202-326-3259 
lsullivan@ftc.gov; etucci@ftc.gov 
jprunty@ftc.gov  
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 

Case 1:11-cv-02172-RMB-AMD   Document 42   Filed 03/14/12   Page 24 of 25 PageID: 1617



  21 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I, Elizabeth Tucci, certify that on March 14, 2012, I served, via email 

(PDF attachment) and first-class mail as indicated below, copies of the 

foregoing Federal Trade Commission’s Submission Supporting Entry of the 

Proposed Stipulated Order, and attached Declaration of James A. Prunty, on 

the following counsel for Defendants Andrew Davidson and Circa Direct, 

LLC: 

 Kristine Ann Sova (mail and email) 
 Venable LLP 
 1270 Avenue of the Americas  
 25th Floor  
 New York, NY 10020  
 kasova@venable.com    
 
 Edwin M. Larkin (pro hac vice) (email) 
 Venable LLP 
 emlarkin@venable.com  
 
 Lameke E. Cannon (pro hac vice) (email) 
 Venable LLP 
 lecannon@venable.com  
 
 
        /s/ Elizabeth Tucci 
        Elizabeth Tucci 
 
 

 

Case 1:11-cv-02172-RMB-AMD   Document 42   Filed 03/14/12   Page 25 of 25 PageID: 1618


